FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/19/2023 3:06 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/19/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101648-4

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRITTANIE SHAW, APPELLANT

V.

HUNTER SHAW, RESPONDENT

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III No. 384284

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stenzel Law Office Gary R. Stenzel, WSBA # 16974 Attorney for Appellant 1325 W. Mallon Ave. Spokane, Washington 99201 <u>Stenz2193@comcast.net</u> (509) 327-2000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	BASIS FOR GRANTING A PETITION FOR REVIEW
II.	RELEVANT FACTS page 1
III.	LEGAL DISCUSSION page 9

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. Western Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 245 P.3d 764, 170 Wash.2d 577 (2010) p. 16

Gilmore v. Jefferson Cnty. Pub. Transp. Benefit Area case 415 P.3d 212, 190 Wash.2d 483 (2018) p. 18

In re MacLaren, 8 Wn. App.2d 751, 440 P.3d 1055 (2019)pp. 13, 15, 17

Of v. Holt, 179 Wash.2d 224, 315 P.3d 470 (2013) p. 9

Salgado-Mendoza, 189 Wash.2d at 427, 403 P.3d 45..... p. 18

State v. Fairfax (In re C.M.F.), 179 Wash.2d 411, 314 P.3d 1109 (2013) p. 9

Tiffany Family Trust Corp. v. City of Kent, 155 Wash.2d 225, 241, 119 P.3d 325 (2005) p. 16

Statutes / Court Rules

RCW 26.27 et.seq	p. 2
RCW 26.09.260	pp. 9, 14
RCW 26.09.270	pp. 2, 8, 15
RAP 13.4(b)	p. 1
RAP 18.9	pp. 8, 16, 17

I. BASIS FOR GRANTING A PETITION FOR REVIEW

The basis for granting a Petition for review can be found preliminarily at RAP 13.4(b), which states:

"(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

In this case the Appellant seeks review of two rulings in this matter, first, the decision to deny the appeal of her request to find Adequate Cause to change the parties' final agreed parenting plan; and second, and in the alternative if the Supreme Court does not accept review of the adequate cause issue, to overturn the finding of a "frivolous appeal".

II. RELEVANT FACTS

The parties entered into an agreed parenting plan in Lincoln County Superior Court, Washington. The father was and is in the military full time and was stationed in the United Kingdom with the US Air Force at the time of this case, and the mother is a resident of the state of Texas. Because of the UCCJEA, the Uniform Child

Custody Jurisdiction Enforcement Act, Lincoln County, Washington courts have had general jurisdiction over the parties and their children. RCW 26.27 et. seq.

The parties' plan gave the father primary care of their children. The children are named RS and ES who were 6 and 9 years of age respectively at the time of this case when the mother requested an RCW 26.09.270 adequate cause finding to modify their plan. With regard to the parties' plan, it gave the father primary care and all the time in the year in the UK, except the children's summer and winter breaks in which they went to live with their mother in Texas. CP 3. The parties had joint decision-making regarding school/education, health care (non-emergency) and religious upbringing. CP 2.

As indicated, the children were primarily placed with the father in their parenting plan that gave him the school year and the mother the summer and winter breaks. This meant that each parent had complete control of the children for a lengthy period of time without interruption of having any time with the other parent. This then meant that the only person responsible for their care

was either Mr. Shaw or Ms. Shaw given that the parties live 5,000 miles away in completely different time zones.

The primary issue in this case revolved around the children's special medical and educational needs, according to the mother's declarations. See CP 45-68, 208-245. For example, RS has a heart problem called "anomalous coronary artery origins and myocardial bridge" (herein after "heart bridge"). CP 282-286. His medical records indicated that a heart bridge was found at birth and even though the records indicated that this condition may not be a problem, it specifically warned that if he later develops persistent exercise-related symptoms the parents should have his heart re-evaluated. Id. With this warning, it would seem the majority parent, Mr. Shaw was on clear notice that such problems should be a focus of his attention for RS. Given the condition of their son's heart bridge problem, it is inconceivable that either parent would not have been on the lookout for any signs of heart problems as was suggested by his first attending cardiologist.

Approximately 3 days after RS came to live with his mother in Texas in the summer of 2020, RS had a rather serious episode where there were signs that his blood flow was affected. He had

chest pains, heart discomfort, blue lips and blue fingertips, that were suggested he has been having similar problems in the UK, as well as precursors of future heart problems. See RP 9 and CP 217. The mother was very frightened by this physical reaction by RS. She could not believe that this was just a one-time event, and that it was unbelievable that his father saw nothing in this regard while he was in his care. At the very least it meant that RS needed medical attention, and it was confusing why his father knew nothing about this kind of problem in RS. The mother felt it was not possible that Mr. Shaw had not seen this occur in his care of RS. Ms. Shaw stated that RS's doctor recommended both parents regularly monitor RS for cardiac symptoms. Id. This also seems reasonable given their son's pre-existing health problems and heart condition. CP 50-51. However, the father failed to see any problem. Ms. Shaw, although frustrated, immediately set up an appointment for RS's checkup of his heart problems in Texas, however, such things take time. CP 217.

Again, the importance of this discovery in Texas by the mother seemed obvious, since any reasonable parent of a child born with a heart anomaly would have seen this kind of

symptomology and worried that there has been a problem, and it was hard to believe that it suddenly came on because he was now in Texas. What is it in Texas that was different than the UK? Nothing, other than a different parent and country. Both the UK and San Antonio are near the ocean where oxygen is replete, and there was nothing to suggest that there were any special precautions implemented by the father in the UK. The answer to these questions also seems to suggest that RS's primary parent was not paying attention to these kinds of things, that both parents were warned about. Any reasonably responsible parent would have noticed such problems if they were attentive, since children are active and it is unreasonable to assume that these problems again, just occurred in Texas. The only difference is who was parenting RS. This episode at least suggested that RS needed some medical evaluations immediately.

The next health issue involved the parties' daughter ES, which problems seemed potentially more severe than RS's problems and more obvious. While in the UK with her father ES developed problems with anxiety, depression, and some social fears. CP 49, 134, 135 and 215-216. Instead of getting right on

these problems to have ES evaluated in the UK for proper treatment, Mr. Shaw again and again failed to have her evaluated for one reason or the other. CP 215. Again frustrated but scared, the mother had ES evaluated in Texas when she got there for her summer parenting time, along with a full workup, with recommendations formulated by a medical professional who found that she had adjustment disorder, social phobia and needed to rule out depression. ES even had fleeting thoughts of suicide that occurred once a week. CP 355-364. Therapy by a child psychologist and forensic psychologist was recommended with weekly follow-up, a safety plan, and more testing, along with supportive therapy. All obtained by the mother, without much if any aid from their father, during her summer parenting time. Id.

The question then was, why didn't these evaluations occur in the UK under the primary care of the father? Why did it take the mother's actions all the way in Texas to have these evaluations occur rather than by her father, who had months to get them done, but for one excuse or the other were not completed.

These problems seemed to paint a picture of a father who was either too busy or distracted to do what he had to do for his

children medically. There were no clear answers to this by the father other than these things did not get done or he denied they existed. The father's excuses made little sense since the health issues above do not come up like measles or a broken arm. They are long-term problems that relate to what is going on with the children's lives, which needed to be addressed, but were not while in the father's care.

After receiving the children for her summer parenting time and having to take responsibility for their medical care and evaluations, since their father did not do much if anything about them, the mother filed a Petition to modify the parties parenting plan to have the court address these problems by a change in their plan. CP 11-16. The father replied, denying almost everything, even that he was potentially negligent in providing health services to his children since these things simply did not occur as Ms. Shaw described. CP 128-143. However, it was hard for the mother to believe that these problems were so faint or negligible that the father could not have somehow seen their signs. The father even admitted in his declaration that ES's problems were developed in the UK. CP 134-136. Even so, the trial court found that these facts

were insufficient to support a RCW 26.09.270 finding of adequate cause and even though the trial judge found that the mother's petition was in no way frivolous, he denied adequate cause and that decision was appealed. RP 26.

Because the trial court and the appellate court seem somehow disregard the facts as the mother described them, and showed with her medical exhibits, they still denied adequate cause. Such decisions, where the health and welfare of the children is at stake, undoubtedly would be detrimental to children who need a change in their parenting plan because of how they may have not been cared for properly. Ms. Shaw asks this court to provide some guidance on these issues for the sake of their children.

In addition, after the mother appealed the trial court's denial of Adequate Cause, Division III of the Court of Appeals not only denied her appeal, but somehow found that her appeal was frivolous, under RAP 18.9. They did this even though the trial judge found that the mother did not bring this action in bad faith. RP 26. For the reasons above, the mother asks this court to accept a review of this important case.

III. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. <u>The care and well-being of children is and has been a</u> <u>significant public policy issue, especially the concept of</u> <u>Adequate Cause determinations</u>.

Washington State court have always placed the wellbeing of children at the forefront of this state's legal policy issues, and further that any improper or inappropriate finding regarding the application of the Adequate Cause statute at RCW 26.09.260 and .270 runs contrary to the public policies of this state to which is to protect the stability of a child's lifestyles. *State v. Fairfax (In re C.M.F.),* 179 Wash.2d 411, 314 P.3d 1109 (2013). This is especially true where the parenting issue deals with proper health issues. See e.g. *Of v. Holt,* 179 Wash.2d 224, 315 P.3d 470 (2013).

B. <u>The fact that the non-primary parent provided evidence of</u> <u>medical issues for the parties' children after they had been with</u> <u>their father in the UK, is a significant fact that should not have</u> <u>been ignored in her request for a modification, as long as there</u> <u>were facts presented which corroborated these problems</u>.

In this case, both parties have substantial impediments to their ability to observe their children for long periods of time because they live so far away, and do not see their children for many months at a time. However, this also sets up the parenting scenario in which the only responsible parent is the parent who last had the children and if there were signs of maltreatment it cannot be blamed on the other parent who is 5,000 miles away. In this case, it was the discovery of medical and psychological problems by the mother, that could not have only occurred when the children were with her, that seemed to draw a picture of a father who failed to do his duty of care for their children, based on what the mother learned after she received them for her summer parenting time.

Because the mother could not observe long periods of time with their children while they were in the UK, that did not mean that she did not have the ability to observe the effects of the father's poor parenting, and medical attention after she received them in her care. In fact, that is what happened in this case. After the children had been in the care of their father for months, she observed serious health problems which were unlikely to have simply occurred because they were now with her in Texas. Their son had a concerning episode related to his heart condition, something both parents were warned about from his birth, and their daughter showed clear signs of depression, anxiety and

social phobia developed in the UK. Eventually, the mother took her daughter to be evaluated in Texas, and it was found that she suffered from adjustment disorder and social phobia. CP 355-364.

When the father confronted about this, he denied almost all allegations, except for his failure to have ES evaluated for her depression issues. CP 128-143. It was then very difficult for the mother to do more than tell the truth about what she learned about their children after they came to her care. Again, the father denied any alleged poor medical care of their children in the UK, however, he was solely responsible for their care while they lived with him in the UK and, for example admitted that he did not get ES evaluated. It then seemed axiomatic that the distance between these parents actually accentuated the fact that these problems were not addressed by the father, who had no one to blame but himself. Such is the case here, Ms. Shaw could only observe health problems when she received their children for her summer visits. As such, her observations should at least be considered as positive attempts to help her children, especially if the evaluation she obtained verified that there was reasonable cause for concern. Further, it clearly appeared that these problems were not

made up by the mother since she corroborated her daughter's health problems by professionals in Texas. The daughter's evaluation alone seemed to verify that something should have been done in the UK while the children were in the father's care but did not. It seems then that the mother's evidence at least was clear that something did not happen with the children when they were with their father even though he lived in a sophisticated country like the United Kingdom; which should not have had to be done by their non-primary parent.

Interestingly, although the father admitted in his declaration both children have access to excellent medical care in the UK, he failed provide complete care for the children. CP 138. (The father finally took the children to a doctor only after the mother filed a petition for parenting modification, which in and of itself was a "subsequent remedial measure, or admission that something should have been done. See CP 286-318).

All these events and the father's lack of action, should not have been ignored by the court, regardless of what the father said he did or did not do. The mother should have at least had a chance to have an evidentiary hearing to address her concerns following

the adequate cause hearing. The court decision ignoring these concerns regarding the children seemed to not in the children's best interest. The fact was proven by the mother that concerning issues had occurred regarding their children's health and education while under the care of their father, but was not addressed timely. The mother could not have done any more than she did, and that was have her daughter immediately evaluated psychologically, and set up some medical evaluation for her son regarding his symptoms and heart problems from birth.

C. <u>Division I of the Court of Appeals took a different course of action in a case where the trial court denied adequate cause, even though the facts were very similar to this case, where the custodial parent denied that their child needed treatment for a serious health problem, seemingly leaving treatment up to the noncustodial parent or school, and they overturned the trial court's denial of "adequate cause".</u>

In the case of *In re MacLaren* at 8 Wn. App.2d 751, 440 P.3d 1055 (2019) the mother was the primary caretaker and she failed to have the parties' child assessed for autism, and although many tests were run by the school and other professionals, she indicated that she did what she could but also denied there was a problem. The father filed a petition for modification and a finding

of adequate cause. The trial judge denied adequate cause stating that there was nothing that showed that there was a problem with the mother's care and that the father had not proven his case. The Court of Appeals found that the trial judge was in error for denying adequate cause because of the mother's denial and resistance to the testing, and the father had established sufficient facts to have the case move on to the next step of a final hearing on his Petition for Modification. They said,

In addition to establishing facts that support finding a substantial change in circumstances, Travis also presented facts that would support finding the present environment is detrimental to the "physical, mental, or emotional health" of the children. RCW 26.09.260(2)(c). The uncontroverted record shows untreated autism and that H.M. expressed suicidal ideation. The record shows that Catherine acknowledges H.M. and his older half-brother require "special attention" and the older half-brother also frequently expresses thoughts about committing suicide. Nonetheless, Catherine insists her daughter O.M. does not need any emotional support or counseling.

¶ 66 We conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in ruling that Travis did not overcome his threshold burden to show adequate cause.

¶ 67 We conclude the trial court did not use an improper legal standard, but the court abused its discretion in finding there is not adequate cause to hold a hearing on the petition to modify the parenting plan. We reverse and remand.

In this case, although there was no autism, there was some suicidal ideation, and the mother showed that the father failed to have their daughter's depression and phobia evaluated, even though he knew there was a problem many months before she went to be with her mother for her parenting time. Here, although the mother had no ability to know what happened in the UK with their son and his blue lips/fingertips and other heart-related problems, the father knew about their son's heart problems from birth, and it seemed hard to believe that these problems simply occurred when he got to Texas with the mother. All in all, there was also a substantial difference, as in the MacLaren case regarding the primary caretaker's action and what he did with their children and their health needs, versus what the noncustodial parent did with them on her time. Just as the mother in the MacLaren case Mr. Shaw denied there were problems, yet later observations of their son, and an evaluation of their daughter's health issues showed significant problems that were not properly addressed by their father. In order to address all this, RCW 26.09.270 required the mother to supply an affidavit setting forth facts supporting her requested modification, and she did so in this

case. For the reasons above, the mother believes that adequate cause should have been found.

D. <u>At a very minimum the Court of Appeals should not have found</u> <u>that Ms. Shaw's Appeal of the trial court's ruling on adequate</u> <u>cause was frivolous</u>.

In order for an appeal to be found to be frivolous under RAP 18.9 the appellate court must use the following test: "An appeal is frivolous if, considering the entire record, the court is convinced that the appeal presents no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and that the appeal is so devoid of merit that there is no possibility of reversal. *Tiffany Family Trust Corp. v. City of Kent*, 155 Wash.2d 225, 241, 119 P.3d 325 (2005). All doubts as to whether the appeal is frivolous should be resolved in favor of the appellant. Id." *Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. Western Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 245 P.3d 764, 170 Wash.2d 577 (2010).

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