FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/31/2023 10:37 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101648-4 (Court of Appeals No. 38428-4-III)

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Brittanie Shaw
Appellant,
vs.

Hunter Shaw,

Respondent

Hunter Shaw's Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review

Jonathan Baner, WSBA #43612 BANER AND BANER LAW FIRM

4007 Bridgeport Way W. Ste D University Place, WA 98466

Telephone: (253) 212-0353 Facsimile: (253) 237-1859 Attorneys for Respondent

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

B. Specific factual disputes

Notwithstanding Hunter's acceptance of the facts as outlined by The COA Decision the petition for review attempts to relitigate those facts and it is thus prudent to address that attempt.

As outlined *infra*, this Court, like the Court of Appeals, should defer to the factual determinations made by the trial court. This deference is misunderstood by Brittanie in her Petition as she continues to attempt to debate the trial courts findings on appeal. Unfortunately, the debate frequently misstates the record or fails to provide any citations to the record as required by RAP 13.4 (c)(6).

Brittanie consistently references that RS has a heart "problem." See e.g. Petition at 6-8, 12, 16, 18. Brittanie disagrees with the cardiologist, Hunter, the trial court, and the court of appeals that determined there is "no worsening in the heart." The COA Decision at 3. See also CP 285 ("history and exam are reassuring, with no significant symptoms from a cardiac perspective with exercise . . . We are unaware of cases

[like RS] ...associated with an adverse outcome . . . no indication for surgery, ongoing cardiac evaluation or activity restrictions. . . do not recommend any additional testing or specific precautions").⁴

Brittanie, while citing to trial counsel's oral argument and CP 217 (Declaration of Brittanie Shaw), claims that in the summer of 2020 there were "chest pains, heart discomfort, blue lips and blue fingertips, that were suggested he has been having similar problems in the UK." Pet. at 3-4. CP 217, a declaration of Brittanie, contains a single paragraph that only indicates that RS "had an incident . . . where his lips and fingertips turned blue." CP 217:15-19. Brittanie's reference to "chest pains" and "heart discomfort" is not found in the factual record.

⁴ Brittanie cites to CP 282-86 for the proposition that medical records "specifically warned that if he later developed persistent exercise-related symptoms the parents should have his heart re-evaluated." Pet. at 3. The specific provision recommendation is found at CP 285 and includes four recommendations. Brittanie misstates the fourth recommendation as "parents should have his heart re-evaluated" when it says that "we would be plead to re-evaluate him for the possible presence of a cardiac cause for his symptoms." CP 285. There is no allegation anywhere in any record that RS has developed "persistent exercise-related symptoms."

The Petition then goes on to make several statements of fact without any citation to the record. Pet. at 4-5. In the absence of such a citation the facts cannot be adequately evaluated. The Petition goes on to state, while referencing CP 217, "RS's doctor recommended both parents regularly monitor RS for cardiac symptoms." CP 217 makes no such claim. RS's heart was healthy before the parenting plan was entered and has remained so since then. Still, Hunter is aware of and remains alert to the possibility of any heart issue. See CP 135:1-15.

The daughter involved in this matter is ES. E.S. is a predominately healthy young girl progressing in school. She had a moderate mental health illness diagnosed as an unspecified mood disorder and generalized social phobia. CP

⁵ It is unequivocally plain that if cardiac related symptom appear that parents should be on alert. This applies to themselves, their children, their spouses, etc. Hunter does not submit ignoring cardiac symptoms is ever permissible. Brittanie apparently observed blue lips and fingertips, had RS evaluated, and he was thankfully without any cardiac problem. CP 217. That lone incident of her observation of a perceived symptom is not a substantial change in circumstances justifying a major modification.

363. She specifically does not have a major depressive disorder. *Id*.⁶, see also the COA Decision at 2.

E.S. had some issues regarding anxiety. She is "nervous around new people" and "anxious" with strangers. CP 360.

Specifically, she reported feeling "worried something bad will happen to her around strangers." CP 360. She is also "fearful of her new stepfamily including both children and the adults." CP 360. The stepfamily is a reference to the, at the time, mother's new husband and stepchildren. See CP 40 (declaration of Brittanie's husband "I hold full custody of all three of my biological children"), CP 361 ("fearful of her new stepfamily" in San Antonio).

^{6.0}

^{6 &}quot;Rule out MDD" appears to be a reference to ruling out of major depressive disorder as the DSM-5 diagnostic term. It is unclear why Brittanie makes repeated references to E.S. having depression in her briefing considering there is no such diagnosis in the record and it has apparently been ruled out. See App. Br. 24 ("soon after the mother received her . . . she was diagnosed with a long case of severe depression and suicidal ideation;" id. at 27 ("he did nothing substantive for his daughter about her depression and suicidal ideation;") *id.* at 2 ("daughter's depression was far worse than she had thought" (citing to CP 80, which is a notice of hearing containing no information relevant to health records)); Br. App. 4 ("ES . . . developed a serious . . . depression" citing to CP 47, which describes "episodes of anxiousness and discomfort," and CP 355-65 that includes medical records expressly ruling out depression); Br. App. 22 ("depression problems"). Brittanie told Hunter that E.S. had "generalized anxiety." CP 135:8-10. Nothing in the medical records makes a diagnosis of depression. The clinical definition may be more exacting and Brittanie may be referencing the term "depression" in a broader sense, but the record does not show a diagnosis of depression.

Brittanie here claims that Hunter "again and again failed to have her evaluated for one reason or another." Petition at 6 (citing to CP 215). However, the record below provides evidence that Hunter noticed E.S. being anxious around other children and brought his concerns up with school faculty who had not noticed anything similar. CP 134-35. The school year was ending and a follow up was not possible. CP 135. Hunter and Brittanie discussed her issues and agreed to get ES evaluated in Texas over the summer break with Brittanie. CP 135.

E.S. has an apparently brief history of experiencing "fleeting thoughts of suicide that occur once a week." CP 360. She reported these thoughts occurred for about two months in May and June 2021 but denied such thoughts in July 2021. CP 360, 358. The trial court concluded that there is no apparent evidence as to how or why the thoughts or other emotional issues occurred. See RP 24:16-17.

C. Procedural history

Against this backdrop, the trial court found that Hunter is aware of E.S. emotional health and capable of attending to it. RP 24:14-15. The trial court found "in looking at the medical records and his declaration he has paid attention to these children's health." RP 24:8-10. With respect to RS's heart the trial court determined "after a physician reviewed his situation there was no restrictions placed on his activities. So I don't see where that is an issue in this case." RP 24:18-21. On August 12, 2021, the trial court dismissed Brittanie's petition for a major modification of the parenting plan without finding adequate cause to continue the matter. CP 261-62.

Brittanie appealed the trial court decision. CP 263. On appeal Brittanie "misquoted the evidentiary standard," "reargued the facts," and "asserted hearsay objections on appeal that she never forwarded before the superior court", The COA Decision at 11. Brittanie mistakenly asserted to the Court of Appeals that a major modification of a parenting plan requires that courts "must accept as verities the evidence presented in

her declarations when assessing adequate cause." *Id.* at 6. The COA Decision correctly recognized that under the appropriate standard of review the trial court's decision "fell within the range of evidence presented by the parties." Id. at 10. The trial court "reasonably concluded that Brittanie Shaw failed to establish a substantial change in circumstances." *Id.*

The COA Decision "carefully reviewed all of the arguments forwarded by Brittanie" and "conclude[d] that Brittanie did not raise any debatable issues on appeal" and found her appeal frivolous. *Id.* at 11.

V. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

There are four potential grounds upon which this Court accepts review under RAP 13.4 (b). None of those grounds are present here. This petition for review stems from a frivolous appeal by Brittanie Shaw that sought to raise over a dozen evidentiary arguments for the first time on appeal, disregarded, and continues to disregard, the scope of review,

misstated, and continues to misstate, law and facts, and attempted to relitigate facts.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with Washington State precedent, does not involve any relevant constitutional issues, nor concerns a matter of substantial public interest.

VI. **ARGUMENT**

A. Grounds for discretionary review

Legal framework

Brittanie seeks review of The COA Decision affirming the trial court as well as The COA Decision imposing attorney fees for a finding of a frivolous appeal.

RAP 13.4 (b) governs whether a petition for discretionary review should be granted. The rule provides four potential basis:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict
- with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.
 - ii. RAP 13.4 (b) (4) does not provide for a blanket acceptance of discretionary review of decisions involving parenting plans

Brittanie asserts, in a heading, that the "care and well-being of children is . . . a significant public policy issue, especially the concept of adequate cause determinations."

Petition at 9. She cites to *State v Fairfax*, 179 Wash.2d 411 (2013) without a pincite for the propositions that "any improper or inappropriate finding regarding application of ... RCW 26.09.260 and .270 runs contrary to the public policies of this state." Nothing in *Fairfax* appears to support that proposition, though in some sense it is simply axiomatic that not following a law is contrary to public policy.

Brittanie also argues, again without a pincite, that the proposition is "especially true where the parenting issue deals

with proper health issues." Petition at 9 (citing "e.g." *In Re BMH*, 179 Wash.2d 224 (2013)). In *Re BMH* was a third party custody petition not involving RCW 26.09. Furthermore, the only discussion of health in that case involved some examples of other matters with respect to evaluating "actual detriment" being highly fact specific. 315 P.3d at 476.

RAP 13.4 (b) has no "significant public policy issue" prong. As there are no constitutional issues involved in this matter it is assumed that Brittanie is attempting to argue that RAP 13.4 (b) (4) applies. Brittanie provides no argument as to how the limited issues of these two specific parents and their children creates "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court" that will have any impact beyond the parties involved.⁷ The only issue raised is the trial court denied adequate cause based on its decision of applicable facts.

Indeed, section III-B of the Petition does not address any element of RAP 13.4
 (b) and is instead wholly argument concerning alleged error.

iii. In re Maclaren, 8 Wn. App. 2d 751 (2019) is not in conflict with this matter

RAP 13.4 (b) (2) provides for possible acceptance of review when a case is in conflict with a published opinion of the Washington State Courts of Appeal. Brittanie asserts that The COA Decision runs afoul of *In re Maclaren*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 751 (2019). The (unpublished) COA Decision cited approvingly to *MacLaren* at least four times. See The COA Decision at 5-7.

The uncontroverted affidavits put forward for the children in *Maclaren* demonstrated two children with significant and *worsening* mental health problems. *Id.* at 754-65. The uncontroverted evidence presented was that the children's mental health needs could be remediated to some extent but that the mother in the case denied any problems, refused to follow recommendations, and that her denials and refusal worsened the problems. *Id.* at 776-78.

Here, however, Hunter was the one that first noticed the possible need for E.S. to be evaluated and started the process.

See CP 134, 136:1-8. Hunter's involvement and care for his children are wholly distinct from the mother's denials and refusals found *Maclaren*. There is no evidence in the record that Hunter has refused medical advice for the children's care or that the children's mental or emotional needs are being detrimentally impacted by their environment.

Because the COA Decision expressly and repeatedly cited approvingly to *Maclaren* and because the facts of this case are radically different the two decisions are not in conflict.

iv. Brittanie makes no argument as to why review
of the finding of a frivolous appeal should be
granted

Although Brittanie devotes almost 3 pages of the Petition to the proposition that the underlying appeal to the court of appeals was not frivolous, she fails to make any argument as to why review of the decision should be granted under RAP 13.4

(b). For that reason alone, the Petition should be denied with respect to this issue.

The central argument proposed by Brittanie is that the court of appeals "did not take the facts presented by the mother as true" and from that strange presumption various facts would thereafter support a reversal of the trial court decision regarding adequate cause because of the new facts. Petition at 16-17.

Oddly, Brittanie also then recognizes that "an appellate court is not to substitute its findings over the findings of the trial judges (*sic*)." Petition at 17-18.

It is well established that A trial court's denial of adequate cause for a proposed parenting plan is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re Parentage of Jannot*, 149 Wn.2d 123, 128, 65 P.3d 664 (2003). The denial of adequate cause for a proposed parenting plan will only be reversed on appeal in those circumstances where the trial court's decision is "is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47,

940 P.2d 1362, 1366 (Wash. 1997). This Court has recognized that trial courts "decide factual domestic relations questions on a regular basis and the adequate cause determinations at issue here often involve facts that are very much in dispute." *Jannot*, 149 Wn.2d at 126. The deferential standard on review is important "[b]ecause adequate cause determinations are fact intensive" and "a trial judge generally evaluates fact based domestic relations issues more frequently than an appellate judge and a trial judge's day-to-day experience warrants deference upon review." *Id.* at 127.

Brittanie's appeal⁸, like her Petition to this Court, was an attempt to relitigate facts. See The COA Decision at 11. As the appellate court must appropriately defer to the trial court, Brittanie's appeal could not be granted.

⁸ Brittanie argued to the trial court several additional complaints including an alleged agreement to modify, Hunter's health, Hunter's alcohol use, Hunter's video game use, RS's mental health, and issues concerning RS's education. See The COA Decision 2-4. These issues appear abandoned. Brittanie also raised numerous hearsay objections for the first time on appeal (now abandoned) and sought to have a summary judgment standard adopted for adequate cause proceedings. See *id.* at 6, 11.

The trial court determined "I don't think the mother brought this in bad faith, so I'm not awarding attorney fees." RP 26:17-19. Brittanie confuses this finding regarding bad faith with "the trial judge did not find that the mother's petition for modification was at all frivolous." Petition at 18. "Bad faith" and "frivolous" are different concepts, but more importantly a frivolous appeal determination will take into consideration the standard on review.

B. Attorney fees are appropriate for answering the Petition

RAP 18.1 (j) provides that a party who is awarded attorney fees in the Court of Appeals may also be awarded attorney fees incurred in answering a petition to this Court. Here, The COA Decision awarded attorney fees and Hunter should be awarded attorney fees incurred in answering the Petition.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Petition fails to meet the requirements of RAP 13.4 (b). The Petition should be denied and attorney fees should be awarded.